EVENTS LEADING UP TO THE PLENTY LADIES PETITION 5TH May 1842 
INTRODUCTION
In late April 1842 a group of four bushrangers conducted raids on farms and stations along the Plenty River valley and adjoining areas seeing them as easy targets because of their isolation and the lack of an effective police force in the Port Phillip District. 
1The plan was devised largely by a man called William Cam who acted as a “fence” for stolen goods. He was the son in law of the landlord of Seymour’s Family Hotel where the men were residing in Melbourne. Encouraged by Cam they conducted a series of raids in late April 1842 on properties near Dandenong to equip themselves with firearms, horses and goods to sell to Cam. This sent the meagre police force in that direction whilst the gang rested at Cam’s hut somewhere near East Kew, before they went to the Plenty Valley.
When the news reached Melbourne of the raids a group of five volunteers “The Gallants” from the Melbourne Club were sworn in as Special Constables by Superintendent La Trobe and immediately headed for the River Plenty. 
They visited homesteads, heard news of the outrages, continued to follow the trail and along the way gained three others in their party. When they reached Arthur Serjeantson’s near today’s Mernda, they gained four more so there were eleven in the posse that arrived at Campbell Hunter’s property “Low Wetlands”. Here the bushrangers were located in a hut and after a fight involving firearms and physical violence, one was killed and the other three apprehended. As the day progressed more men and police arrived from Melbourne to see the events unfold.
2As is common today the newspapers of the period all told a tale based on a version that was not quite true and made no other enquiries before repeating it.  I have based my work partially on the account by Captain John Harrison, a member of the posse, as published in the Port Phillip Patriot and Melbourne Advertiser on 9th May 1842. Also, the spelling of names in the reports varies and has made tracing them “more interesting”.
The surviving three men were brought back to Melbourne, tried, found guilty and hung.
At least two immediate reactions resulted from this event. Namely the proposed formation of a Yeomanry Corps called “The Port Phillip Volunteers” and the creation of a petition to Superintendent La Trobe from ladies of the district. Not all the signatories were from the Plenty Valley, but I am sure they felt strongly about the issue and lent their support to it.
Moving forward to the start of the third decade of the 21st century, we in Victoria find ourselves in a Government declared “State of Disaster” due to the COVID-19 Pandemic complete with a night time curfew. Not having the freedom to move around, it seems like a good time to reflect on events of 180 years ago that helped shape the infant Port Phillip District of New South Wales. My research resources are limited to what can be found online, principally through the National Library of Australia site TROVE, Lindsay Mann, who gave me a copy of his book “The Plenty Bushrangers of 1842” and my meagre personal library.
Norm Colvin October 2020.
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CHAPTER 1
WHO WERE THE BUSHRANGERS?
1Charles Ellis
3Born in Surrey, England and aged 18, he arrived in Sydney on the brig Emma upon which he was engaged as a cook. He had left Sydney about four months previously and overlanded to Melbourne.
1Daniel Jepps
3Also known as Yankee Jack aged 27. Jepps claimed to have been born in Boston in 1815. He arrived in Sydney on a whaler called Cargo and jumped ship about seven weeks previously. He had made his way overland to Melbourne, where he joined forces with Williams. 
1Martin Fogarty
3A Bounty Immigrant, aged 18 was born in Templemore, Tipperary, Ireland. He was the son of a farm labourer; his mother had died when he was still a child. He had been involved in a murder case in Ireland where he gave evidence and received a financial reward. In Melbourne he had been employed as a butcher’s boy in Melbourne and was recently dismissed from this job.
1Jack Williams
2A Bounty Immigrant aged about 28. He was considered the leader of the gang. He was shot and killed at Campbell Hunters’ during apprehension.
4The three survivors were jointly indicted for wilfully, maliciously and feloniously shooting at and wounding in the left cheek one Henry Fowler with intent to murder the said Henry Fowler at Low Wetlands in the District of Port Phillip on 29th April 1842.
There were another 24 charges in all levelled at the three survivors covering all aspects of the criminal spree. They were found guilty and hung on 28th June 1842.
5William Cam
On Tuesday 17th May 1842 William Cam was indicted for feloniously receiving various goods knowing them to be stolen from James Osborne at Melbourne on 27th April 1842. He pleaded not guilty.
Crown evidence stated that he been associated with the bushrangers tried the previous week and had received stolen property from them.
He was found guilty and sentenced to fourteen years transportation.
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CHAPTER 2
WHICH PROPERTIES WERE ROBBED?
On Friday 29th April 1842
Using stolen horses, armed with stolen guns and emboldened by a good supply of grog the bushrangers left Cam’s and crossed the Yarra at Anderson’s Creek.
1DONALDSON
James Bruce Donaldson’s property called “Kangaroo Ground”, was the first to be robbed.  Here a horse was stolen and a worn out horse was left as an exchange.
1FLEMING
2Robert Fleming purchased 555 acres in the Parish of Morang on 15th April 1840 and called it “Craigie Park”. 1His property is now used as Yarrambat Park and public golf course. Yan Yean Rd is the eastern boundary and the river is the western boundary.
1HALEY
Cornelius Sharpe Haley’s property was north of Wilton Vale Rd and just across the Plenty from Flemings’. 
1SANGER
John Mildred Sanger had a small farm called “Morano” near Haley’s and was the next visited.
1SERGEANTSON
Arthur Sergeantson arrived in Port Phillip District in 1839. 2He purchased Portion 19, Parish of Morang on 5th February 1840 and named it “Sergeantson’s Hall”, which is where the township of Mernda is today. The northern boundary of his property is now Bridge Inn Rd and the eastern boundary was the Plenty River.
1As soon as the bushrangers left his property Arthur saddled his horse and rode to Melbourne to alert Superintendent Latrobe of the crime spree.
1BOND
William Carpenter Bond was the licensee of the Bridge Inn Hotel at Mernda, which was originally on the western side of the Plenty River and built by the Willis brothers. It is believed they topped up their grog supply here as well.
1NORCOTT 
Henry Norcott’s station is believed to have been located on the east bank of the Plenty river in Section 4 of the Yan Yean Parish. Here they forced a station hand to guide them to the next property which was Rider’s.
1RIDER
George William Rider owned a property called “Rokeby Hall” which included Rider’s Swamp which is now under the Yan Yean reservoir. The man from Norcott’s was released here and Rider was forced to guide them onwards.
1HARRISON
3 Across the river from Rider’s was Captain John Harrison’s property. Harrison took up a run of 2,000 acres north of Yan Yean Township in 1838 and called the property Bendemere Cottage.  The 1841 Proclamation of Settled Districts reduced his holding to Lots 25 and 51, an area of 190 acres.  This is centred on the Yan Yean Township area.
4His obituary reads: Captain John Harrison, one of the early settlers, died at Williamstown, on the 21st July 1869 of acute bronchitis, at the advanced age of sixty-seven years. Captain Harrison was a native of Cumberland, England, and entered the British Navy early in life as an officer on board H. M.S. Ganges. He retired from the Navy after a few years of service, and in 1833 settled in New South Wales. In 1838 he passed over- land from Sydney to Port Phillip, where he settled as a squatter on the River Plenty. For several years Captain Harrison took an active part in the political and social events connected with this colony, but later he lived in retirement at Williamstown. The deceased gentleman leaves a widow and numerous relatives, some of whom occupy important positions in this and the neighbouring colonies. 
1Rider was kept with the party and one of Harrison’s men was also compelled to join them. They crossed the river again and were directed to Bear’s.
1BEAR
5John Pinney Bear purchased 935 acres in Portion 20 on 24th November 1842 in the Parish of Yan Yean. 1Only Anne Bear and her 14 year old daughter were home and were thus robbed. They were forced to feed the party and then Rider was released. He just went home without reporting the matter to anyone. The bushrangers then camped the night a few hundred metres from Bear’s property.
1This site is believed to have been between Dunnetts Rd and the river. The “Castle” was believed to be made in response to bushranging activities in the area.
1RONALD
1Dr William Ronald was the first to be robbed on the second day. 3He was a former ship’s surgeon who purchased a lease holding on 1841. His land was between the River Plenty and Arthurs Creek. He held 12,000 acres, but this was whittled away after later land acts were enacted. His property at the time of the robberies was called “Virtue Hall”. It was just south of Bear’s close to the east bank of the Plenty.
6William died on 12th June 1882 at his station “Williamsbrooke”, near Whittlesea.
1SHERWIN
7Sherwins had two stations one at “Braemore”, Beveridge, which was the home of John and Elizabeth, and the other, was where the Township of Whittlesea is. George and Mary lived there, 1but unfortunately they were visiting the “Braemore” station at the time of the robbery. 
The Sherwin’s did not let them into their house immediately and the first shots of the spree were fired here. Only when the threat of having the house burnt down and of every one being murdered was made did they open the door. John Sherwin was assaulted and all were robbed.
The Sherwin Ranges, NE of Whittlesea are named after the family.

1WILLS
7Thomas Wills JP bought Portions 5, 6, 11 & 12 in the Parish of Toorourrong. 1His property was called “Richlands”: and was managed by Patrick Kenny as Wills was an absentee landowner. They are located immediately to the north of Whittlesea Township. 
1The Kenny’s’ had no property of value to the gang, and when even after various threats on their lives, nothing was offered, the gang headed to Campbell Hunter’s property.
1HUNTER
Campbell Hunter owned “Low Wetlands”.  He and a group of guests were having breakfast when the gang arrived. They bailed Hunter and his guests up outside and proceeded to eat their meal. This is where the posse from Melbourne caught up and the villains were apprehended. 
Campbell Hunter died in Melbourne on 26th March 1846 aged 27.
Bibliography
1The Plenty Bushrangers of 1842, Lindsay Mann 1996
2Morang Parish Plan 1839
3The Diamond Valley Story, Edwards & Shire of Diamond Valley 1979, page 10/12
4Records from Ancestry.com 
5Yan Yean Parish Plan 1839
6Australian Medical Pioneers Index
7Tourourrong Parish Plan 1839 

CHAPTER 3
WHO WERE THE GALLANTS?
Upon his arrival in Melbourne on Friday afternoon, Arthur Sergeantson sighted Superintendent Latrobe outside the Melbourne Club on the corner of Collins and Market Streets. He reported the events to him. At the time Latrobe was chatting with Henry Fowler who immediately took up the challenge of pursuing and arresting the gang. Fowler and four others were sworn in as Special Constables and departed for the Plenty with Fowler designated as the leader. 
Henry Fowler
1Fowler had a thorough knowledge of the area they were headed to and had “superior” bushcraft skills. Henry was wounded in the face during the gun battle and initially attended to by Dr Ronald.
2Kerr’s Melbourne Almanac & Port Phillip Directory 1841, places him residing at “Hume River”.
Peter Snodgrass
3Peter Snodgrass came to NSW on 23rd December 1828 as one of 6 children of Major Kenneth Snodgrass.  
2At this time he resided at Murrindindi Hall, near Yea on the Goulburn River. He had overlanded to Port Phillip in 1838.
3In 1851 he was elected to the first Victorian Legislative Council and then to the Victorian Legislative Assembly for Anglesey and later for South Gipps Land. He died on 28th November 1867 suddenly from aneurism of the heart.
Robert Chamberlain
1A retired lieutenant of the 31st Regiment. Kerr’s has him residing at 2Steele’s Creek, Sydney Rd 
Oliver Gourlay
2Oliver was an early merchant in Little Collins St, Melbourne. 4He died 19th November 1853
James Thompson
1A settler from Cape Schanck. 
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CHAPTER 4
THE PETITION

‘Resident Ladies on the Plenty River’
Sir,
We the resident ladies on the Plenty River and the surrounding neighbourhood having received such a shock by the late brutal attack of the bush rangers on our lives and property feel no longer sufficiently safe to remain so far from Town, unless some urgent means are adopted to prosecute and put down these constant outrages.
We most respectfully solicit your Honour to support the Settlers, aided by those who so gallantly risked their lives for our protection from the late emergency, to unite in carrying out the spirit of these Petitioners.
WHO WERE THESE LADIES?
These are the names on the petition in the order they signed it.
Ann Bear:
1Ann was born Ann Hutchings on 23rd July 1796. Her husband John Pinney Bear, who was notable for building Bears’ Castle a construction made of mud and clay (cob) at Yan Yean. 2John bought a grant of 935 acres in Portion 20 on 24th November 1842. This site is now part of the Yan Yean Reservoir area. The “Castle” was believed to be made in response to bushranging activities in the area.
In 1860 her husband John Pinney Bear went on to be a founder of the Tahbilk Vineyard Company, (now called Tahbilk). This was at Geelong at that time.
Ann was one of the authors of the Petition along with Elizabeth Sherwin. 
Elizabeth Sherwin: 
3Elizabeth was born Elizabeth Hernon and was the wife of John Sherwin. 4Their property was Braemore at Merriang to the west of Whittlesea. When this property was robbed her brother-in-law George Sherwin and wife Mary were visiting. 
Elizabeth died on 28th April 1855 at Albury. John became M.L.C. for the Southern Province in 1866.
Mary Sherwin:  
3Mary was born Mary Thorn on 20th June 1821 at Parramatta. Her parents were John Thorn and Jane Hook. She married George Sherwin on 17th March 1841 at Parramatta.  George was born on 30th January 1816 also at Parramatta and was the son of a Sergeant in the NSW Corps. He and three of his brothers took up a large portion of land on the Plenty River prior to Hoddle’s survey.
Mary moved with him in 1842 to the River Plenty and during the journey their first child John Thorn Sherwin was born. 4They lived in a station set up by George in 1837 where the township of Whittlesea now stands and were to have another 13 children.
In later life they returned to Parramatta and Mary died there on 12th March 1892 and George on 3rd September 1898.
Ellen Smith:
Eleanor Fergusson married John Pridham Smith at St James Church of England, Melbourne in 1840. At the time of the robberies their first child George Glencross Smith was a baby and they lived somewhere in the River Plenty district, most likely near Whittlesea.
Eliza Ronald: 
6Born 21st January 1811 as Eliza Mears she was married Dr William Ronald in 1841 at Launceston, Van Diemen’s Land. At the time of the robberies they were living near Whittlesea at Virtue Hall. They later lived at a station called Williamsbrooke, near Whittlesea.   Eliza died on 11th May 1893.
Jane Harrison:
3Jane was born as Jane Howe around 1800 in Sydney NSW. On 12th February 1831 she married Capt. John Harrison.  They were living at Yan Yean in 1842 on the property called 6Bendemere Cottage. Jane died on 23rd November 1880 in Melbourne. 
6Jane had studied music and was an accomplished musician. They had “overlanded” to come to Port Phillip District and brought her piano with them. Musical evenings were held occasionally, to which the local “society” people attended. 
C Atkins: 
C Atkins was the wife of John Atkins who bought Portion 110 on 10th June 1840. Portion 110 is located at the start of Sydney Rd in what is now the township of Brunswick. It seems that Atkins also had a property on the River Plenty as well, because aPVE1 bullock of his was speared and killed by an aboriginal there in October 1841. 
3They had arrived on 13th December 1839 as Bounty Immigrants on the ship Westminster.5John was also to be a founding member and Convenor for the 3rd District of the Port Phillip Volunteers, the Yeomanry Military Corps proposed to be formed in response to this event.
I haven’t been able to establish Mrs C Atkins’ first name or her background.

Mary Bond:
3Born Mary Saunders, at the time of the outrage, Mary was the wife of William Carpenter Bond the publican of the Bridge Inn Hotel at Mernda, which was originally built by the Willis brothers. 
Little accurate information is known of Mary’s birth and living details prior to this. Both Mary and her husband may have been convicts, as no records of “free” immigration can be found.
They later moved to Benalla where William was a pound keeper. Mary died there in 1891.
Jane Haley:
3Born as Jane Muirson in 1813 in Avoch, Ross & Cromarty, Scotland she married Cornelius Sharpe Haley in 1841 in the Port Phillip District. In the early 1840’s they lived on the River Plenty to the north of Wilton Vale Rd and then her husband bought a large area of land near Diamond Creek where a street bears their name. Jane died in Melbourne on 20th February 1886.
Jessie Fleming:
3Jessie was born as Janet Robertson in Dalkeith, Edinburgh on 2nd August 1807. On 17th May 1830 she married Robert Fleming at St Cuthbert’s in Edinburgh. In 1836 they moved to Launceston, Tasmania and later to the Port Phillip district. The couple had 14 children, 7 of whom pre-deceased her. 7In 1842 they were living at Craigie Park Yarrambat. This is the site of Yarrambat Park and golf course. Jessie died on 26th February 1856 at Moonee Ponds.
Hannah Ann Flintoff:
3Born Hannah Ann Storey on 27th March 1820 at Holywell, Flintshire, Wales; she married Edward Theodore Flintoff on 6th June 1839 at Auckland, Durham, England. 
Both Flintoff brothers and wives arrived on 15th January 1841 at Port Phillip on the bounty ship Fergusson. They were self-funded.
During her time in the colony she bore three children and had arrived with an infant.
By the time of the 1851 census Hannah had returned to Auckland with her four children and they were living with her parents. She died there in 1861.
Theodore died at Greensborough on 14th June 1899.
Priscilla Flintoff:
3Born Priscilla Stone in 1815 at Dennington, Gloucestershire; she married Fredrick Nevins Flintoff on 4th September 1840 at Morton-in-Marsh, Gloucestershire. In Port Phillip District both Flintoff families lived at the property known as Brancepeth, north of Greensborough. It extended from the River Plenty to Diamond Creek Rd where the Melbourne Polytechnic now stands. 
They had five children, the first of whom was born at the time of the outrage. Priscilla died in Victoria in 1875. Frederick died on 3rd May 1886 at Melbourne.
Katherine Rose Beale: 
3Katherine Rose Young was born on 27th May 1795 in Stepney, Parish of Shoreditch, England. On 15th January 1814 she married Major Anthony Beale at Jamestown, on the island of St Helena in the Atlantic Ocean.  Her uncle was the Governor of St Helena and her husband served there with the English East India Company as a Pay Master General. 
In 1836 when the British took control Major Beale retired and the large family including 17 children firstly moved to England and then Tasmania, before settling in Port Phillip district of New South Wales. The Beales then took up a pastoral lease on the Plenty River including the area that is now known as St Helena. Katherine died on 5th August 1856 at St Helena, Victoria and her husband built a chapel to her memory. This was consecrated as St Katherine’s Church of England, although burnt down in a bushfire in the late 1950’s; it was rebuilt and still exists today.
Eliza Lecky:
3Born Elizabeth Wood in 1803 Stewartstown, Tyrone, Northern Ireland; her parents were James Wood and Sarah Christie. She was married to John Lecky in Tyrone about 1827. They had four children. They seem to have lived in the Cranbourne district. I cannot find a direct connection to the Plenty Valley.
Frances Lewis Coulstock: 
3Frances Lewis King was born in Milton-next-Sittingbourne, Kent, England in 1818 and married George Coulstock on 2nd January 1837 at Longford, Tasmania. George at the time of the petition was operating the flour mill at Kangaroo Point, 4 miles upstream from the present location of Greensborough. 7George had purchased Lots 2 & 3, Parish of Morang.
She died on 11th December 1847 aged 28. At the time of her death, she was living with her 3 children at her brother in law James’ property at Darebin Creek. George had pre-deceased her in 1842.
Mary Coulstock:
3Mary was George Coulstock’s mother and was born as Mary Yerworth in 1784.  She married Joseph Coulstock. At the time of the petition she was living with her son George and his wife on the River Plenty. She died in 1847 aged 63.
Catherine McDonald:    
8The Geelong Advertiser on Monday 10th January 1842 reported that the wife of John McDonald of the River Plenty had given birth to triplets. Also, that she had delivered twins about twelve months previously. However, there is no record of these births in the Digger Database.  
[bookmark: _GoBack]An 1844 traverse showing Plenty Rd places McDonalds’ Station between Coopers’ Hill and immediately to the south of and adjoining Coulstocks’ Station. Today this is about where the Bundoora shopping centre is.
E M Shaw: 
A Dr Foster Shaw lived at Darebin Creek. E M Shaw may have been his wife or daughter.
M Maunsell: 
3Edward Eyre Maunsell and Richard Maunsell appear on the electoral roll for 1848 living at Darebin Creek. They were brothers and born in Ireland. I cannot determine who M Maunsell was.
Miss McKillop:
3Anne McKillop was born in Perth, Scotland in 1822 to John McKillop and Ellen McNab. Anne later married Alexander McPherson in 1844 at St Francis Catholic church in Melbourne. They had at least one child. Anne died aged 47 in 1869.
7Her brother Alexander McKillop had purchased Lot 3, Parish of Morang 820 acres in size, centred on Kurrak Rd. The northern boundary was Worns lane and the Plenty River was the western boundary. 

Jane Cooper: 
3Jane was born as Jane Ramsdale on 20th June 1816 at Stokesley, Yorkshire. Her parents were John Ramsdale and Elizabeth Walding. On 18th September 1836 she married Horatio Cooper at Launceston, Tasmania.
At the time of the bushranging Mary was pregnant with their third child and was to have another nine children.
Where they lived was early on described as Darebin Creek and is now known as Bundoora. The farm was called “Woodlands” and Mt Cooper is named after the family.
Horatio died on 27th June 1864 in St Kilda and Mary died at Woodlands on 15th March 1900.
Julia McLean and Catherine McLean:
9Neil McLean purchased Portion 9 in 5th February 1840. It was where the town of Macleod now is. Julia and Catherine may have been his wife and daughter.
Caroline Webb:
3Caroline was the daughter of Major St Lawrence Webb. They arrived in the colony on 18th July 1840 with her four brothers aboard the Coromandel. They had paid for their own passage.  The family took up land along Darebin Creek. Caroline was born on 14th May 1817 in India where her father was a serving army officer.
Caroline never married and died on 17th December 1873 at Sandridge. (Port Melbourne).
Sarah Bunbury:
3Sarah was born as Sarah Susanna Sconce in 1816 at Plymouth England. On 19th December 1838 she married Commander Richard Hanmer Bunbury RN. Sarah’s husband was Superintendent of the Water Police in 1842 and by 1847 13 the Harbourmaster for Port Phillip. They lived at Williamstown and had six children. No doubt her signature was an important one to have on the petition. 
Richard died at Williamstown in 1857 and Sarah returned to England by 1861 as she appears on the census of that year. Sarah died on 20th June 1897 in Watlington Park, Oxfordshire, England. 
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PVE! The correspondence to the Chief Protector of Aborigines on 9 October 1841; re: “Incident at Plenty River”, held at the Public Records Office of Victoria. VPRS 11/ P0  unit 8, item 406,
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